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U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
REGION I

1

INSPECTION REPORT
.

Report No. 030-30599/97-001

Docket No. 030-30599

License No. 29-28215-01

Licensee: Somerset County Enaineerina Department

inspection At: 20 Grove Street
Somerville. New Jersev

inspection Conducted: January 14.1997

Inspector: Yae rSc's .A? / d'{l. ,Ntt|r<4,7 4 / ' ,T 7 -
Charles G. Amato / f 6te ''f
Health Physicist

Approved By: , , _ /p / [/h/ )%
<deffnp M/Joh se'h,-Chief

_ ' date
vtJuclear Mate sals' Safety Branch 3

Division of Nuclear Materials Safety

inspection Summarv: Unannounced safety inspection conducted on January 14,1997
(Report No. 030-30599/97-001).

1

Areas inspected: Organization and scope of program, radiation safety officer, leak
tests, program review, storage of licensed material, training and transportation.

Results: Four apparent violations were identified: 1) named Radiation Safety Officer
left 18 months ago (see Section 3); 2) no leak tests of sealed sources (see Section 4);
3) no annual review of radiation safety program (see Section 5); and 4) shipping
papers not carried in vehicles transporting gauges (see Section 7).
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DETAILS |
,

1. Persons Contacted
I

!* Gary Cortelyou - Construction Engineer
i

Salvatore Diliberto - Inspector
Rich Lazicky - Road Opening Inspector
David Lor"ner - Assistant County Engineer (by telephone)

)

* present at exit meeting ;

2. Oraanization and Scope of Proaram

i

The Somerset County Engineering Department was issued NRC License No. j
29-28215-01 on August 16,1988 that authorizes the possession and use of !

cesium-137 and americium-241 sealed sources in Troxler portable
moisture / density gauges at the licensee's facilities and at temporary job sites. .

The license expires on March 31,2004. At the time of this inspection, the !
licensee possessed two portable moisture / density gauges and a thin lift gauge. |

There are currently three authorized gauge users. The County constructs, '

maintains and repairs County roads, bridges, storm sewers and culverts. The
gauges are used at temporary job sites to determine compliance with
applicable Code requirements. The authorized users report to the Assistant j
County Engineer who in turn reports to the Director of Public Works. The '

governing body is the County Board of Chosen Freeholders. |

3. Radiation Safetv Officer

Condition 12 of License No. 29-28215-01 names Mr. John Liznaski as the
Radiation Safety Officer (RSO). Mr. Liznaskileft employment with the licensu
during the summer of 1995. The licensee did not notify the NRC that the
named RSO was no longer employed nor did they submit a license amendment
request naming a successor RSO.

Failure to have a named individual perform the duties of the RSO is an
apparent violation of Condition 12 of License No. 29-28215-01.

4. Leak Tests

License Corr. . ion 13.A. requires that sealed sources containing licensed
material be .ssted for leakage and/or contamination at interval not to exceed
six months. The inspector determined that the licensee failed to perform the
required leak tests.

|

Failure to perform tests for leakage and/or contamination at intervals not to
i

exceed six months is an apparent violation of Condition 13.A. of License No.
29-28215-01.

I

,

inspection Report No. 030-12568/97-001
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5. Proaram Review

i 10 CFR 20.1101(c) requires the licensee to review the content and
implementation of its radiation protection program on an annual basis. The.

i inspector determined that the licensee did not perform the required review |*

since January 1994. l

Failure to review the content and implementation of its radiation protection
{ program at least annually is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1101(c).

6. Storaae of Licensed Material

10 CFR 20.1801 requires the licensee secure licensed material from
unauthorized removal that are in an unrestricted area. The licensee stores !

4

their gauges in a lockable, metal cabinet located in the Engineeringc "

Department office area as described in their application. Gauge source rods i

are locked as required. The gauges were placed within locked transit cases. ,

The building is patrolled during non-business hours.

No safety concerns were identified.
,

,

7. Trainina

Condition 11 of License No. 29-28215-01 requires that licensed material be
used by individuals who have successfully completed the manufacturer's
training program for gauge users and have been instructed in the licensee's

,

routine and emergency operating procedures. The inspector determined that
the each gauge user received manufacturer's training from Troxler and had ;

read and understood the licensee's operating and emergency procedures.
,

No safety concerns were identified.

8. Transoortation

The inspector reviewed the shipping papers and determined that they
contained the necessary information. The inspector interviewed licensee
personnel and determined that the shipping papers were left in the garage and
did not accompany the gauges in transit.

10 CFR 71 requires that NRC licensees comply with the applicable regulations
of the US Department of Transportation (DOT). 49 CFR 177.817(a) requires
properly prepared shipping papers accompar.y shipment of hazardous i

materials.

Inspection Report No. 030-12568/97-001
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!
Failure to have shipping papers accompany the transport of licensed materials
outside the confines of the licensee's facility is an apparent violation of 49 .;
CFR 177.817(a). *

1

| The inspector examined the licensee's Type A packages use for shipping the
'

gauges and determined that they were properly labeled and marked in
accordance with requirements in 49 CFR 172 and meet DOT package design

;

requirements specified in 49 CFR 173.410 through 415.
{
1

9. Exit Interview i
:

The scope and findings of the inspection were discussed with the individual ,

identified in Section 1 of the report.
f

| 1
4

.

:

i

i

f
i.

-|
:
;

t

t

!

I

i
i

I

i

4

i
;

I

!

i

| t

i

i

;

inspection Report No. 030-12568/97-001

i

, .- -_ __ _ _ . . - . _ ._



.

UNITED STATESa
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

OFFICE OF NUCLEAR MATERIAL SAFETY AND SAFEGUARDS
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20555

May 1, 1996

NRC INFORMATION NOTICE 96-28: SUGGESTED GUIDANCE RELATING TO DEVELOPMENT AND
IMPLEMENTATION OF CORRECTIVE ACTION

Addressees

All material and fuel cycle licensees.

Puroose

The U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) is issuing this information
notice to provide addressees with guidance relating to development and
implementation of corrective actions that should be considered after
identification of violation (s) of NRC requirements. It is expected that
recipients will review this information for applicability to their facilities
and consider actions, as appropriate, to avoid similar problems. However, ;

suggestions contained is. this information notice are not new NRC requiremeats;
therefore, no specific action nor written response is required. ,

Backaround

On June 30, 1995, NRC revised its Enforcement Policy (NUREG-1600)' 60 FR
34381, to clarify the enforcement program's focus by, in part, emphasizing the
importance of identifying problems before events occur, and of taking prompt, j

comprehensive corrective action when problems are identified.
*

Consistent with
the revised Enforcement Policy, NRC encourages and expects identification and
prompt, comprehensive correction of violations.

|

iIn many cases, licensees who identify and promptly correct non-recurring
Severity Level IV violations, without NRC involvement, will not be subject to
formal enforcement action. Such violations will be characterized as "non-
cited" violations as provided in Section VII.B.1 of the Enforcement Policy.
Minor violations are not subject to formal enforcement action. Nevertheless,
the root cause(s) of minor violations must be identified and appropriate ')
corrective action must be taken to prevent recurrence.

If violations of more than a minor concern are identified by the NRC during an 1

inspection, licensees will be subject to a Notice of Violation and may need to
provide a written response, as required by 10 CFR 2.201, addressing the causes
of the violations and corrective actions taken to prevent recurrence. In some
cases, such violations are documented on Form 591 (for materials licensees)

9604290193
.

' Copies of NUREG-1600 can be obtained by calling the contacts listed at
the end of the Information Notice.
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'which constitutes a notice of violation that requires corrective action but
does. not require a written response. If a significant violation is involved,
a predecisional enforcement conference may be held to discuss those actions.
The quality of a licensee's root cause analysis and plans for corrective

;actions may affect the NRC's decision regarding both the need to hold a 1

predecisional enforcement conference with the licensee and the level of '

| sanction proposed or imposed.

Discussion

Comprehensive corrective action is required for all violations. In most
cases, NRC does not propose imposition of a civil penalty where the licensee
promptly identifies and comprehensively corrects violations. However, a
Severity Level III violation will almost always result in a civil penalty if a
licensee does not take prompt and comprehensive corrective actions to address
the violation.

It is important for licensees, upon identification of a violation, to take the !
necessary corrective action to address the noncompliant cor.dition and to
prevent recurrence of the violation and the occurrence of similar violations.
Prompt comprehensive action to improve safety is not only in the public
interest, but is also in the interest of licensees and their employees. In
addition, it will lessen the likelihood of receiving a civil penalty. Compre-
hensive corrective action cannot be developed without a full understanding of
the root causes of the violation. ;

|

Therefore, to assist licensees, the NRC staff has prepared the following
guidance, that may be used for developing and implementing corrective action.
Corrective action should be appropriately comprehensive to not only prevent
recurrence of the violation at issue, but also to prevent occurrence of
similar violations. The guidance should help in focusing corrective actions
broadly to the general area of concern rather than r.arrowly to the specific

,

'

violations. The actions that need to be taken are dependent on the facts and
circumstances of the particular case.

The corrective action process should involvt the following three steps:

1. Conduct a complete and thorough review of the circumstances that led to
the violation. Typically, such reviews include:

Interviews with individuals who are either directly or indirectly-

involved in the violation, including management personnel and those
responsible for training or procedure development / guidance.
Particular attention should be paid to lines of communication
between supervisors and workers.

.

|
-
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| Tours and observations of the area where the violation occurred,-

a particularly when those reviewing the incident do not have day-to-
day contact with the operation under review. During the tour,

j individuals should look for items that may have contributed to the
violation as well as those items that may result in future'

violations. Reenactments (without use of radiation sources, if they
were involved in the original incident) may be warranted to better,

; understand what actually occurred.
s

,

Review of programs, procedures, audits, and records that relate-,

! directly or indirectly to the violation. The program should be
; reviewed to ensure that its overall objectives and requirements are
] clearly stated and implemented. Procedures should be reviewed to'

determine whether they are complete, logical, understandable, and ,

meet their objectives (i.e., they should ensure compliance with the
: current requirements). Records should be reviewed to determine

whether there is sufficient documentation of necessary tasks to
provide an auditable record and to determine whether similar

;

violations have occurred previously. Particular attention should be '

; paid to training and qualification records of individuals involved
with the violation.

! 2. Identify the root cause of the violation.

'
Corrective action is not comprehensive unless it addresses the root i

cause(s) of the violation. It is essential, therefore, that the root i

cause(s) of a violation be identified so that appropriate action can be
taken to prevent further noncompliance in this area, as well as other
potentially affected areas. Violations typically have direct and !

,

indirect cause(s). As each cause is identified, ask what other factors i

could have contributed to the cause. When it is no longer possible to 1

identify other contributing factors, the root causes probably have been '

identified. For example, the direct cause of a violation may be a
failure to follow procedures; the indirect causes may be inadequate
training, lack of attention to detail, and inadequate time to carry out
an activity. These factors may have been caused by a lack of staff
resources that, in turn, are indicative of lack of management support.
Each of these factors must be addressed before corrective action is
considered to be comprehensive.

)

i

!

!
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3. Take promot and comprehensive corrective action that will address the
immediate concerns and prevent recurrence of the violation.

,

it is important to take immediate corrective action to address the f
specific findings of the violation. For example,.if the violation was
issued because radioactive material was found in an unrestricted area, !
imediate corrective action must be taken to place the material under |
licensee control in authorized locations. After the immediate safety.

concerns have been addressed, timely action must be taken to prevent '

future recurrence of the violation. Corrective action is sufficiently |
comprehensiva when corrective action is broad enough to reasonably '

'
prevent recurrence of the specific violation as well as prevent similar
violations.

In evaluating the root causes of a violation and developing effective !

corrective action, consider the following.

1. Has management been informed of the violation (s)?
;

2. Have the programmatic implications of the cited violation (s) and the i

potential presence of similar weaknesses in other program areas been
considered in formulating corrective actions so that both areas are
adequately addressed?- ,

3. Have precursor events been considered and 'actored into the corrective
actions? r

i

4. In tre event of loss of radioactive material, should security of ;

rauioactive material be enhanced?
t

5. Has your staff been adequately trained on the applicable requirements?

6. Should personnel be re-tested to determine whether re-training should be
emphasized for a given area? Is testing adequate to ensure
understanding of requirements and pr m dures?

7. Has your staff been notified of the violation and of the applicable !

corrective action?
!

8. Are audits sufficiently detailed and frequently performed? Should the
frequency of periodic audits be increased?

!

!
.

--
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; 9. Is there a need for retaining an independent technical consultant to |
audit tae area of concern or revise your procedures? '

10. Are the procedures consistent with current NRC requirements, should they
be clarified, or should new procedures be developed?

11. Is a system in place for keeping abreast of new or modified NRC |
requirements?;

12. Does your staff appreciate the need to consider safety in approaching
daily assignments? ;

,

13. Are resources adequate to perform, and maintain control over, the
l

licensed activities? Has the radiation safety officer been provided i;

sufficient time and resources to perform his or her oversight duties? j

14. Have work hours affected the employees' ability to safely perform the
job?,

I'

Should organizational rhanges ce made (e.g., changing the reporting15. u

relationship of the radiation safety officer to provide increased
lindependence)?

16. Are management and the radiation safety officer adequately involved in
oversight and implementation of the licensed activities? Do supervisors

.

adequately observe new employees and difficult, unique, or new
1 operations?

17. Has management established a work environment that encourages employees
to raise safety and compliance concerns?

'

18. Has management placed a premium on production over compliance and
safety? Does management demonstrate a commitment to compli=ce and

'

safety?
i

19. Has management communicated its expectations for safety and compliance?
'

20. Is there a published discipline policy for safety violations, and are
enployees aware of it? Is it being followed?

.
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!
| This information notice seguires no specific action nor written response, if !

you have'any questions about the information in this notice, please contact
!one of the technical contacts listed below. ;

i
i| .h g f . ..d '<*' h

. .

l . ....

Eliza eth Q. n Eyck, Di -ctor Donald A. Cool, Director '

| Div ion of fuel Cycle Safety Division of Industrial !

.

and Safeguards and Medical Safety ?

Office of Nuclear Material Safety Office of Nuclear Material Safety ;and Safeguards and Safeguards ,
,

Technical contacts: Nader L. Hamish, OE Daniel'J. Holody, RI
(301) 415-2740 (610) 337-5312 ;

internet:nlm@nrc. gov Internet:djh@nrc. gov
.

Bruno Uryc, Jr., RIl Bruce L. Burgess, RIII |
(404) 331-5505 (708) 829-9666
Internet:bxu@nrc. gov Internet:blb@nrc. gov

,

Gary F. Sanborn, RIV |
(817) 860-8222 |Internet:gfs@nrc. gov '

Attachments:
1. List of Recently Issued NMSS Information Notices

i2. List of Recently Issued NRC Information Notices '

|
|

.

|

.
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